Dynamic Biochemistry, Process Biotechnology and Molecular Biology ©2008 Global Science Books



Production of Genetically Improved Organic Nile Tilapia

Harrison Charo-Karisa^{1*} • Hans Komen² • Henk Bovenhuis² • Mahmoud A. Rezk³ • Raul W. Ponzoni⁴

Sangoro Aquaculture Research and Development Center, Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute, P.O. Box 136, Pap-Onditi, Kenya
 Animal Breeding and Genomics Centre, Wageningen University, P.O. Box 338, 6700 AH, Wageningen, The Netherlands
 Regional Center for Africa and West Asia, The WorldFish Center, Abbassa, Abou Hammad, Egypt

⁴ The WorldFish Center, Jalan Batu Maung, Bayan Lepas, 11960, Penang, Malaysia

Corresponding author: * harrison.charo@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Demand for organic products for human consumption has been on the increase due to the belief that organic products are safer and healthier to the consumer and the environment. In developing countries, Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) is usually grown in low-input organically fed ponds with little or no high protein supplementary feeding, an environment suitable for production of organic fish. However, Nile tilapia from such production systems do not attain large sizes which leads to low pond yields. This paper presents results of an attempt to improve the performance of organically farmed tilapia through selection for growth in organically fertilised earthen ponds. The selection environment consisted of earthen ponds fertilized daily with 50 kg dry matter (dm)/ha chicken manure. Body weight increased with selection and substantial response was recorded. Gut length increased with selection for body weight. Moreover, gut length and body weight were genetically highly correlated indicating that tilapia selected for growth on a herbivorous diet may develop longer guts as a mechanism for increasing capacity and efficiency for nutrient absorption. Taken together, these results demonstrate the feasibility of selection for growth of organic Nile tilapia. Meanwhile, organic certifications for Nile tilapia should be instituted for better prices and increased profits of organic fish.

Keywords: body weight, gut length, low input, Oreochromis niloticus, pond, selection

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	50
CERTIFICATION OF ORGANIC FISH	
PRODUCTION OF ORGANIC TILAPIA	
PRODUCTION ENVIRONMENT	
FISH SURVIVAL IN ORGANICALLY FERTILISED PONDS	
Natural food components in organic ponds	
SELECTION FOR GROWTH OF ORGANIC TILAPIA	
CONCLUSIONS	53
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Demand for organic products for human consumption has been on the increase due to the belief that organic products are safer and healthier to the consumer and the environment. Organic foods are grown on farms that adhere to certain government food safety and environmental standards such as avoiding the use of chemicals and synthetic fertilizers. The global market for organic food has been estimated to grow at about 18% per year (ITC 2002). Organic aquaculture is a relatively new concept which started with production of cold-water salmonids in Europe and Northern USA followed by warm-water organic aquaculture. The first certified organic warm-water fish farm in the world, Geva Fish Farm, was started in 2000 with blue tilapia (*Oreochromis aureus*) as the main species (Milstein and Lev 2004).

According to NOSB (2007), organic farming is an ecological production management system that promotes and enhances biodiversity, emphasizes the use of management practices that prefer the use of off-farm inputs, taking into account that regional conditions require locally adapted cultural, biological and mechanical systems as opposed to using synthetic materials to fulfill specific functions within the system. This definition also applies to organic aquaculture to a large extent. The basis for organic aquaculture production is the maintenance of the aquatic environment and surrounding aquatic and terrestrial ecosystem, achieved by encouraging the use of by-products and waste materials as a feed source, enhancing biological cycles in production, prohibiting synthetic fertilizers, avoiding chemotherapeutic agents, reducing environmental impact of effluents and wastes, and promoting polyculture when applicable (Milstein and Lev 2004).

CERTIFICATION OF ORGANIC FISH

Although it is broadly agreed that the organic label is not a necessity for primarily herbivorous fish like tilapia, carp and catfish, consumers have been confused on the meaning of organic fish. In developing countries where aquaculture production has mostly shunned the use of antibiotics or chemicals, no certified organic farms exist. This may be attributed to a lack of awareness about rules and regulations of organic production among farmers who are practicing organic farming. In sub-Saharan Africa for example, fish farming is mainly extensive or semi-intensive which meets the most important criteria for organic fish production. Although it could be expected that fish and fish products coming from such farming systems would be sold with organic labeling to improve incomes of small scale farmers, labelling has not yet taken root in sub-Saharan Africa.

Lack of universally accepted regulations and specific standards has led to farmers not being able to access the benefits of better prices that are expected from organic aquaculture. In many countries, organic fish are produced using national or private standards for organic fish production. These standards are usually informed by environmental or consumer concerns. Organic aquaculture is seen by some as a means to mitigating the problems associated with highly intensive aquaculture. Such problems are associated with the use of fish meal and fish oil from wild fish for feeds, chemical and antibiotic usage and waste disposal, prevention of fish escapes which would contaminate wild stocks and disrupt biodiversity resulting to negative impact on the ecosystem through competition for food, hybridization, disease tranfer and habitat degradation.

Organic aquaculture should have its own specific standards different from those used for land raised livestock animals. A recent organic fish consumer survey report indicates that consumers have strong expectations of the organic fish they buy. Among the surveyed individuals, 91% indicated that organic fish should be produced without environmental pollution, and should be free-of or low-in contaminants like mercury and polychlorinated biphenyls (Rangan 2007). Therefore, the environment in which the fish grow and the feed they eat should be monitored from time to time to ensure fish are not contaminated.

Lack of specific standards for certification of organic fish will leave room for exploitation of consumers because farmers, individual certifiers, consumers and other stakeholders will not be able to agree on the interpretation of what organic aquaculture really means. It is important to note that without such standards, it is easier for the consumer to pay for fish that are in fact not organically produced. For example, tilapia produced from organic manure alone (e.g. Kang ombe et al. 2006; Charo-Karisa et al. 2006b) or organic manure and bran (Mataka and Kang'ombe 2007) may be erroneously placed in the same category with tilapia receiving both organic and inorganic fertilizers with brans and fish meal (e.g. Eknath et al. 2007). The basis for organic aquaculture production is the maintenance of the aquatic environment and surrounding aquatic system (Milstein et al. 2008). Such a status can be achieved by the use of byproducts and organic waste materials as feed sources, enhancement of biological cycles in production, promotion of polyculture and mixed sex production, prohibition of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) and avoidance of chemicals and hormones and thus reducing the environmental impacts of effluents and wastes. Furthermore, the fish have to be reared under low densities with only certified organic feeds and natural fertilizers avoiding high intensity culture systems. Although the definition of low density is not yet defined, it should allow the fish to grow in conditions that are as much as possible similar to the natural (Milstein et al. 2008).

PRODUCTION OF ORGANIC TILAPIA

Nile tilapia is herbivorous by nature, consuming mainly phytoplankton (Moriarty 1973; Moriarty and Moriarty 1973), but can as well consume a variety of other natural food organisms found in ponds (Bowen 1982). Organic fertilizers may be applied to fishponds to stimulate natural food production because organic fertilizers enhance autotrophic and heterotrophic food webs. The use of manures and organic wastes in fish farming was developed long ago by Chinese fish farmers (Lin 1964; Tang 1970; Bardach *et al.* 1972). Due to the high cost of supplementary feeds, poor farmers either grow Nile tilapia with organic fertilization alone or with a variety of locally available farm resources and household wastes as supplementary feeds. As a result, a common characteristic of such systems is slow growth and poor pond yields.

Growth is one of the most important parameters in successful fish production ventures. Therefore, the breeding objective of most fish selective breeding programs is enhanced growth rate which leads to more efficient fish production (Gjedrem 1997). A number of selective breeding programs have been initiated to improve the growth of O. niloticus in ponds receiving high protein supplementary feed (Hulata et al. 1986; Eknath et al. 1993; Bentsen et al. 1998). Apart from taking up to 60% of fish production costs (Green 1992) due to high reliance on fish meal and oils, supplementary feeds are not considered environmentally friendly because they lead to further depletion of natural stocks (Tacon 2004; Marra 2005). A Nile tilapia selection experiment was carried out in ponds receiving chicken manure as the only external nutrient source with the objective of producing fast growing organically produced Nile tilapia (Charo-Karisa 2006). This study is used as a reference point in this paper.

PRODUCTION ENVIRONMENT

Farming of organic fish requires consideration of environmental criteria for it to qualify as organic farming. This is especially because consumers' concerns are not restricted only to the finished product as marketed but also the various inputs used during the production process (Aarset and Young 2004). In the case of Nile tilapia, it has been shown that the fish can thrive well through out its life stages in organicaly fertilized ponds at low densities. The production of Nile tilapia seed can be carried out in hapas suspended in fertilized ponds or directly in the ponds (Charo-Karisa et al. 2006a, 2006b). To boost natural pond productivity, ponds with hapas containing fry are fertilized daily with chicken manure at the rate of 50 kg dry matter ha⁻¹ day⁻¹. This suboptimal fertilization level allowed fry to grow to 2-5 g from 31 days at a stocking density of 15 fry m⁻² (Charo-Karisa 2006). In the same study, it was shown that when stocked at low stocking densities (1 fish m^{-2}) tilapia in grow-out ponds receiving kg ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ dry chicken manure from layer and broiler farms can give yields of as much as 1250 kg ha year⁻¹. This fertilization rate corresponds to 0.3 kg nitrogen ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ which is enough to support yields of 4.3 kg fish BW ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ (calculated from Knud-Hansen *et al.* 1991). At higher fertilization rates of between 500-1200 kg ha week⁻⁷, Kang'ombe et al. (2006) recorded similar results for tilapia in chicken manure (1255 kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) but lower for pig manure (608 kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) and cattle manure (583 kg year⁻¹). At higher densities of 2 fish m⁻² or higher, rates ha⁻ of fertilization may be increased to 100 kg dry matter ha day⁻¹ or fish may be given supplementary feed made from locally available organic materials. Green et al. (2002) working in organically fertilised ponds with or without supplementary feeding found Nile tilapia yields of between 1274 and 2929 kg ha⁻¹ indicating substantial yield improvement with fertilization and supplemental feeding. Feed sour-

 Table 1 Proximate composition of protein sources used for formulation of fish feeds (expressed as per cent dry matter).

65.2 71.9 23.1 6.2 47.6	15.1 1.7 7.1 3.1 30.9	11.5 6.4 3.5 1.4 2.7
23.1 6.2	7.1 3.1	3.5 1.4
6.2	3.1	1.4
÷ ·		
47.6	30.9	2.7
		2.7
30.0	13.2	3.7
26.9	6.9	5.0
24.4	5.7	11.1
35.9	7.0	8.4
		24.4 5.7

Modified from Nyina-wamwiza et al. (2007) and Mukhopadhyay and Ray (1999).

ces vary according to local crops and factories in each region. These include fish meal, blood meal, wheat, maize and rice brans, cotton seed cake, sunflower, soybean, groundnut and mustard oil-cakes as well as leaves from local herbs. The proximate analysis of some of these ingredients (**Table 1**) indicate that they are useful protein sources. It should be noted that natural food production under conditions of high fish density in the presence of large amounts of added organic matter, is not a stable process but rather a delicate balance of various organisms becoming dominant (Schroeder 1978, 1980). Working with buffalo manure, Shevgoor *et al.* (1994) found higher water quality deterioration at higher manure loading rates of more than 100 kg dry matter ha⁻¹ day⁻¹.

FISH SURVIVAL IN ORGANICALLY FERTILISED PONDS

Widely varying survival rates (29-100%) have been recorded in Nile tilapia reared in fertilized ponds with or without supplementary feeds (e.g. Abdalla *et al.* 1996; Abdelghany and Ahmad 2002; Bolivar and Newkirk 2002), indicating that survival is an important trait to consider in pond experiments. Fertilized ponds are frequently affected by extended periods of low dissolved oxygen leading to hypoxia which may reduce growth (Chervinski 1982) and cause mortality (Coche 1982). Charo-Karisa *et al.* (2006a) found dissolved oxygen levels of as low as 0.6 mg/l in organically fertilised ponds. As suggested by Teichert-Coddington and Green (1993), it may be both the duration of hypoxic episodes and the level of dissolved oxygen rather than the level of dissolved oxygen alone that determine the effect of hypoxia on fish.

Natural food components in organic ponds

In a study of natural food components, Spataru et al. (1983) found that phytoplankton, zooplankton, detritus and, rarely, zoobenthos were found in the guts of tilapia. Kang'ombe et al. (2006), working with chicken, pig, cattle and no manure treatments, found significant differences in numbers among the classes of zooplankton such as copepods, cladocerans and rotifers. Furthermore, copepods, cladocerans (daphnia and moina) and rotifers (lecane and brachioni) densities differed significantly among the different treatments. Among the phytoplankton groups, Spataru et al. (1983) found Chlorophyta and Euglenophyta in most of the fish and in large numbers. Due to their small size the maximum weight of phytoplankton is usually much smaller than that of some zooplankton components, especially when Copepoda and Cladocera are involved. However the latter are present in much lower numbers. The largest bulk of natural food found in fish consists of detritus which can make up to 10 g per fish. To improve the supply of natural food, the amount of periphyton available to the fish in the rearing system may be increased since periphyton allows a more efficient absorption of energy than plankton derived from filter feeding, as evidenced by various studies (Dempster et al. 1993, 1995). This can be done through introduction of substrates such as bamboo sticks into the pond system.

SELECTION FOR GROWTH OF ORGANIC TILAPIA

Nile tilapia reared in fertilized ponds with no supplementary feeding have been found to have high heritability estimates for body weight and body measurements with low common environmental effects than those reared in recirculation systems. The reported h^2 estimates for body weight in organically fertilized ponds are between 0.2-0.6 (Eknath *et al.* 1995; Charo-Karisa *et al.* 2006b). Similar estimates have been reported in ponds receiving supplementary feeds (e.g. Velasco *et al.* 1995; Ponzoni *et al.* 2005). Velasco *et al.* (1995) found similarly high heritability estimates for body depth and body length. In contrast, Rutten *et al.* (2005) found lower estimates for body depth, body thickness and **Table 2** Selection differentials (g) for organic Nile tilapia. Estimated by comparing estimated breeding values (EBVs) of selected brooders and of all fish in each generation before selection, and the observed (Obs.) and expected (Exp.) means of body weight at harvest (BW).

Generation	Obs. BW	Differential	Exp. BW
G ₀	67.4	23.4	-
Gı	87.2	13.0	90.8
G ₂	129.5	-	100.2

From: Charo-Karisa H, Komen H, Rezk MA, Ponzoni RW, van Arendonk JAM, Bovenhuis H (2006b) Heritability estimates and response to selection for growth of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) in low-input earthen ponds. *Aquaculture* **261**, 479-486, with kind permission from Elsevier, ©2006.

body length in recirculation systems. The high heritability and low common environmental effects recorded under the rearing conditions indicate sufficient additive genetic effects for selection in organically fertilized ponds. Substantially higher selection response for growth has been reported for fish reared under organically fed pond systems than in supplementary fed systems. The estimated selection response in organically fertilised non-fed ponds was 23.4 g (34.7%) between the first and second generation and 13.0 g (14.9%) between the second and third generations (**Table 2**, Charo-Karisa *et al.* 2006b). On the other hand, Eknath *et al.* (1998), Bolivar and Newkirk (2002) and Ponzoni *et al.* (2005) reported average genetic gains of between 8.4–17% per generation in ponds, cages and tanks receiving pelleted feeds.

A substantial amount of additive genetic variation and low common environmental effects exists for survival in organically fertilised fish ponds. Charo-Karisa et al. (2006b) found heritability (h^2) estimate of between 0.03 and 0.14 for survival of Nile tilapia in ponds receiving organic manure. These estimates are comparable with estimates for Nile tilapia and other species of fish farmed in high input conditions. For example, Standal and Gjerde (1987) and Rye et al. (1990) reported heritability estimates (0.04 to 0.21) for Atlantic salmon and Rainbow trout from the sire component and higher heritability (0.25 and 0.87) from the dam component of variance. Gjerde et al. (2004) found zero heritability and higher common environmental effects (0.12) for survival in Atlantic cod, suggesting non-additive genetic common environmental effects. In Nile tilapia reared in ponds receiving supplementary feeds, Eknath et al. (1998) reported lower heritability (0.08) than reported for organically fed ponds (Charo-Karisa et al. 2006b). Taken together, the h² estimates indicate prospects for improvement of survival in fertilized ponds by selection. Studies giving reliable estimates of correlations between survival and initial weight or between survival and BW have not yet been done.

Compared to recirculation systems, the Nile tilapia harvested in fertilized ponds are on average smaller and are usually not filleted. The fish farmer is therefore paid either for whole or gutted body weight; gutted weight being a direct measure of how much meat the consumer can get. Kronert et al. (1989) and Charo-Karisa et al. (2007) reported high phenotypic and genetic correlations between body weight and gonad weight, body weight, GSI, and maturity in O. niloticus. Similarly, Eknath et al. (1995) found heritability for maturity at spawning of 0.15. The low genetic correlation between maturity and body weight found in organically fertilised ponds is consistent with studies in other fish species (Gjerde 1986; Gjerde et al. 1994). Although excessive reproduction in culture ponds reduces the growth of fish, low fecundity of tilapia can hinder the production of adequate numbers of fingerlings for grow-out (Coward and Bromage 2000). Given the considerable heritability, the reproductive capacity of females and maturity at an earlier age can be improved by selection when necessary. Longalong et al. (1999) pointed out that selection for lower frequency of early maturing females in Nile tilapia may result in poorer growth and that selection for improved growth may increase the frequency of early maturing females. The low

genetic correlation between maturity and body weight at harvest in organic ponds indicate that it is possible to simultaneously select for late maturity and fast growth. The fecundity and the number of eggs/kg body weight (10912 to 12138) in organic tilapia were consistent with earlier studies (Smitherman *et al.* 1988; Duponchelle *et al.* 1998) indicating that selection in low-input ponds did not reduce fecundity. Although no difficulties were reported in reproducing the selected individuals, it should be emphasized that because of high plasticity of reproductive traits in Nile tilapia (Pullin 1982; Kronert *et al.* 1989; Duponchelle *et al.* 1998; Duponchelle and Legendre 2001) routine monitoring of reproductive parameters should be done in tilapia breeding programs.

Herbivorous fishes are known to have longer intestines than carnivorous or omnivorous fishes because they live on food requiring greater digestive processing (Nagase 1964; Smith 1989). Therefore, it is expected that selection for growth would lead to tilapia with longer relative intestine lengths. Charo-Karisa *et al.* (2007) found that larger fish tended to have higher gut length to size ratios. In contrast, Abdel-Tawwab and El-Marakby (2004) found no differences in gut lengths of Nile tilapia between 25-125 g body weights.

It has been suggested that fish size may be genetically correlated with the efficiency for absorption of nutrients (Gjedrem and Thodesen (2005), and that growth rates of animals are fundamentally dependent upon the systems where digestive and absorptive processes occur (Zimmerman et al. 2005). Charo-Karisa et al. (2007) found substantial additive genetic variance for gut length and that gut length increased with selection for body weight. Gut length and body weight were also highly genetically correlated. According to Ferraris and Ahearn (1984), guts of herbivorous fish are long and appear structurally uniform from stomach to rectum. However, Sklan et al. (2004) found that tilapia fed fish meal diets did not have uniform structure and that the sites of nutrient absorption were altered. The intestine of hybrid tilapia O. niloticus X O. aureus comprises a series of nested loops, which are lined with villi on the luminal face, considerably enlarging the absorptive area (Sklan et al. 2004). This suggests that having longer guts may be a mechanism for increasing absorptive capacity through increase of surface area and hence more efficient nutrient absorption especially for tilapia fed on a diet of periphyton and phytoplankton.

The high correlated responses in body measurements and gut length indicate that fish selected for growth with natural organic food might become very different from fish selected for growth on a diet of high protein pellets. Because of the diversity of Nile tilapia fish farming systems it will be crucial to know how fish selected in high protein or low input organic environments will perform in these different farming systems.

CONCLUSIONS

Although organic fish are produced in conditions requiring special environmental considerations making them safer and healthier to the consumer, such environments lead to lower yields compared to highly intensive systems. Considering the consistent increase in body weight across generations and the high heritability estimates, we can conclude that there are good prospects for selection for growth of organic Nile tilapia. It is appropriate that Nile tilapia reared in developing countries be given it s rightful status as an organic fish. This should be done in recognition of the conditions and food type given to the Nile tilapia in ponds.

Lack of specific standards for certification of organic fish does not allow for profiteering from the poor small scale fish farmers. It is necessary that developing country government move with speed to institute standards for organic farming of Nile tilapia and other species to ensure that farmers receive organic certifications and make better profits.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This paper draws from a study funded by INREF-Pond, Wageningen University and the World Fish Center. We acknowledge the staff of The WorldFish Centre, Abbassa, Egypt for providing the necessary help and facilities during the experiments. We would like to thank Riccardo Russo for assistance with literature.

REFERENCES

- Aarset B, Young J (2004) Aquatic foods: options for organic growth? Aquatic Resources, Culture and Development 1, 15-23
- Abdalla AAF, Mcnabb CD, Batterson TR (1993) Ammonia dynamics in fertilized fish ponds stocked with Nile Tilapia. Progress in Fish Culture 58, 117-123
- Abdeghany AE, Ahmad MH (2002) Effects of feeding rates on growth and production of Nile tilapia, common carp and silver carp polycultured in fertilized ponds. *Aquaculture Research* **33**, 415-423
- Abdel-Tawwab M, El-Marakby H (2004) Length-weight relationship, natural food and feeding selectivity of Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* L in fertilized earthen ponds In: Bolivar R, Mair G, Fitzsimmons K (Eds) New *Dimensions in Farmed Tilapia, Proceedings of the 6th International Symposium on Tilapia in Aquaculture*, Manila, pp 500-509
- Bardach JE, Ryther JH, McLamey WO (1972) Aquaculture, the Farming and Husbandry of Freshwater and Marine Organisms, John Wiley, New York, 868 pp
- Bentsen HB, Eknath AE, Palada de Vera MS, Danting JC, Bolivar HL, Reyes RA, Dionisio EE, Longalong FM, Circa AV, Tayamen MM, Gjerde B (1998) Genetic improvement of farmed tilapias: growth performance in a complete diallel cross experiment with eight strains of *Oreochromis niloticus*. *Aquaculture* 160, 145-173
- Bolivar RB, Newkirk GF (2002) Response to within family selection for body weight in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) using a single-trait animal model. *Aquaculture* **204**, 371-381
- **Bowen SH** (1982) Feeding, digestion and growth-qualitative considerations. In: Pullin RSV, Lowe-McConnell RH (Eds) *The Biology and Culture of Tilapias, ICLARM Conference Proceedings 7*, International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management, Manila, Philippines, pp 141-156
- Charo-Karisa H (2006) Selective breeding of Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) for low-input pond environments. PhD thesis, Aquaculture and Fisheries and Animal Breeding and Genetics Groups, Wageningen University, The Netherlands, 176 pp
- Charo-Karisa H, Bovenhuis H, Rezk MA, Ponzoni RW, van Arendonk JAM, Komen H (2007) Phenotypic and genetic parameters for body measurements, reproductive traits and gut length of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) selected for growth in low-input earthen ponds. *Aquaculture* 273, 15-23
- Charo-Karisa H, Komen H, Reynolds S, Rezk MA, Ponzoni RW, Bovenhuis H (2006a) Genetic and environmental factors affecting growth of Nile tilapia juveniles: modelling spatial correlations between hapas. *Aquaculture* 255, 586-596
- Charo-Karisa H, Komen H, Rezk MA, Ponzoni RW, van Arendonk JAM, Bovenhuis H (2006b) Heritability estimates and response to selection for growth of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) in low-input earthen ponds. *Aquaculture* 261, 479-486
- Chervinski J (1982) Environmental physiology of tilapias. In: Pullin RSV, Lowe-McConell RH (Eds) The Biology and Culture of Tilapias, ICLARM Conference Proceedings 7, International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management, Manila, Philippines, pp 119-128
- **Coche AG** (1982) Cage culture of tilapias In: Pullin RSV, Lowe-McConell RH (Eds) *The Biology and Culture of Tilapias, ICLARM Conference Proceedings* 7, International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management, Manila, Philippines, pp 205-246
- **Dempster PW, Baird DJ, Beveridge MCM** (1995) Can fish survive by filter feeding on microparticles? Energy balance in tilapia grazing on algal suspensions. *Journal of Fish Biology* **47**, 7-17
- **Dempster PW, Beveridge MCM, Baird DJ** (1993) Herbivory in the tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus*: a comparison of feeding rates on phytoplankton and periphyton. *Journal of Fish Biology* **43**, 385-392
- **Duponchelle F, Legendre M** (2001) Rapid phenotypic changes of reproductive traits in response to experimental modifications of spatial structure in Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus. Aquatic Living Resources* **14**, 145-152
- Duponchelle F, Pouyaud L, Legendre M (1998) Evidence of environmental effects on reproductive characteristics of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) populations from man-made lakes of Ivory Coast. *Aquatic Living Resources* 11, 137-144
- Eknath A E, Reyes RA, Bolivar HL, de Vera MP, Danting JC, Dionisio ED, Longalong FM (1995) Genetic improvement of farmed tilapia: estimation of genetic variation and heritability for age and size at first spawning in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquaculture 137, 279-280
- Eknath AE, Bentsen HB, Ponzoni RW, Rye M, Nguyen NH, Thodesen J, Gjerde B (2007) Genetic improvement of farmed tilapias: Composition and

genetic parameters of a synthetic base population of *Oreochromis niloticus* for selective breeding. *Aquaculture* **273**, 1-14

- Eknath AE, Dey MM, Rye M, Gjerde B, Abella TA, Sevilleja R, Tayamen MM, Reyes RA, Bentsen HB (1998) Selective breeding of Nile tilapia for Asia. In: Proceedings of the 6th World Congress on Genetic and Applied Livestock Production 27, 89-96
- Eknath AE, Tayamen MM, Palada-de Vera MS, Danting JC, Reyes RA, Dionisio EE, Capili JB, Bolivar HL, Abella TA, Circa AV, Bentsen HB, Gjerde B, Gjedrem T, Pullin RSVP (1993) Genetic improvement of farmed tilapias: growth performance of eight strains of *Oreochromis niloticus* tested in different farm environments. *Aquaculture* 111, 171-188
- Ferraris RP, Ahearn GA (1984) Sugar and amino acid transport in fish intestine. *CompBiochem Physiol A* 77, 397-413
- Gjedrem T (1997) Selective breeding to improve aquaculture production. World Aquaculture 28, 33-45
- Gjedrem T, Thodesen J (2005) Selection. In: Gjedrem T (Ed) Selection and Breeding Programs in Aquaculture, Publisher, Dordrecht pp 89-111
- Gjerde B (1986) Growth and reproduction in fish and shellfish. Aquaculture 57, 37-55
- Gjerde B, Simianer H, Refstie T (1994) Estimates of genetic and phenotypic parameters for body weight, growth rate and sexual maturity in Atlantic salmon. *Livestock Production Science* **38**, 133-143
- Gjerde B, Terjesen BF, Barr Y, Lein I, Thorland I (2004) Genetic variation for juvenile growth and survival in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Aquaculture 236, 167-177
- Green BW (1992) Substitution of organic manure for pelleted feed in tilapia production. *Aquaculture* **101**, 213-222
- Hulata G, Wohlfarth GW, Halevy A (1986) Mass selection for growth rate in the Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquaculture 57, 177-184
- ITC (2002) United States market for organic food and beverages. ITC- International Trade Centre Report to the UN Conference on Trade and Development 3/2002, 38 pp
- Kang'ombe J, Brown JA, Halfyard LC (2006) Effect of using different types of organic animal manure on plankton abundance, and on growth and survival of *Tilapia rendalli* (Boulenger) in ponds. *Aquaculture Research* 37, 1360-1371
- Knud-Hansen CF, Batterson TR, McNabb CD, Harahat IS, Sumantadinata K, Eidman HM (1991) Nitrogen input, primary productivity and fish yield in fertilized freshwater ponds in Indonesia. *Aquaculture* 94, 49-63
- Kronert U, Horstgen-Schwark G, Langholz HJ (1989) Prospects of selecting for late maturity in tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). I. Family studies under laboratory conditions. *Aquaculture* 77, 113-121
- Lin SY (1964) Chinese system of pond stocking. Proceedings of the Indo-Pacific Fish Council, pp 65-71
- Marra J (2005) When will we tame the oceans? Nature 436, 175-176
- Mataka L, Kang'ombe J (2007) Effect of substitution of maize bran with chicken manure in semi-intensive pond culture of *Tilapia rendalli* (Boulenger). Aquaculture Research 38, 940-946
- Milstein A, Joseph D, Peretz J, Harpaz S (2008) Increasing natural food and reducing added feeds in organic tilapia ponds. World Aquaculture 39, 28-29
- **Milstein A, Lev O** (2004) Organic tilapia culture in Israel. *Proceedings of the* 6th International Symposium on Tilapia in Aquaculture, Manila, pp 657-660
- Moriarty DJW (1973) The physiology of digestion of blue-green algae in the cichlid fish, *Tilapia nilotica. Journal of Zoology (London)* **171**, 25-39
- Moriarty DJW, Moriarty CM (1973) The assimilation of carbon from phytoplankton by two herbivorous fishes, *Tilapia nilotica* and *Haplochromis nigripinnus. Journal Zoology (London)* **171**, 41-55
- Mukhopadhyay N, Ray AK (1999) Improvement of quality of sesame Seasamum indicum seed meal protein with supplemental amino acids in feeds for

- rohu Labeo rohita (Hamilton) fingerlings. Aquaculture Research **30**, 549-557 **Nagase G** (1964) Contribution to the physiology of digestion in *Tilapia mossambica* Peters: digestive enzymes and the effects of diets on their activity. *Zeitschrift für Vergleichende Physiologie* **49**, 270-284
- NOSB (2007) Policy and procedures manual. National Organic Standards Board, Revised November 30, 2007
- Nyina-wamwiza L, Wathelet B, Kestemont P (2007) Potential of local agricultural by-products for the rearing of African catfish *Clarias gariepinus* in Rwanda: effects on growth, feed utilization and body composition. *Aquaculture Research* **38**, 206-214
- Ponzoni RW, Hamzah A, Tan S, Kamaruzzaman H (2005) Genetic parameters and response to selection for live weight in the GIFT strain of Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). Aquaculture 247, 203-210
- Pullin RSV (1982) General discussion on the biology and culture of tilapias. In: Pullin RSV, Lowe-McConell RH (Eds) *The Biology and Culture of Tilapias*, *ICLARM Conference Proceedings* 7, Manila, The Philippines, pp 331-352
- Rangan U (2007) Consumer Expectations of Organic Fish Paper Submission to NOP Aquaculture Symposium. Consumers Union, non-profit publisher of Consumer Reports, October 1, 2007
- Rutten MJM, Bovenhuis H, Komen H (2005) Genetic parameters for fillet traits and body measurements in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* L). *Aquaculture* 246, 125-132
- Rye M, Lillevik KM, Gjerde B (1990) Survival in early life of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout: estimates of heritabilities and genetic correlations. *Aquaculture* 89, 209-216
- Schroeder G (1978) Autotropic and heterotropic production of micro-organisms in intensely-manured fish ponds, and related fish yields. *Aquaculture* 14, 303-326
- Schroeder GL (1980) The breakdown of feeding niches in fish ponds under conditions of severe competition. *Bamidgeh* 32, 20-24
- Shevgoor L, Knud-Hansen C F, Edwards P (1994) An assessment of the role of buffalo manure for pond culture of tilapia. III. Limiting factors. Aquaculture 126, 107-118
- Sklan D, Prag T, Lupatsch I (2004) Structure and function of the small intestine of the tilapia Oreochromis niloticus X Oreochromis aureus (Teleostei, Cichlidae). Aquaculture Research 35, 350-357
- Smith LS (1989) Digestive functions in teleost fishes. In: Halver JE (Ed) Fish Nutrition (2nd Edn), Academic Press, San Diego, pp 331-421
- Smitherman RO, Khater AA, Cassell NI, Dunham RA (1988) Reproductive performance of three strains of Oreochromis niloticus. Aquaculture 70, 29-37
- Spataru P, Wohlfarth GW, Hulata G (1983) Studies on the natural food of different fish species in intensively manured polyculture ponds. *Aquaculture* 35, 283-298
- Standal M, Gjerde B (1987) Genetic variation in survival of Atlantic salmon during the searcaring period. Aquaculture 66, 197-207
- Tacon AGJ (2004) Use of fish meal and fish oil in aquaculture: a global perspective. *Aquatic Resources, Culture and Development* **1**, 3-14
- Tang YA (1970) Evaluation of balance between fishes and available fish foods In multispecies fish. *Trans American Fisheries Society* 99, 708-718
- Teichert-Coddington D, Green BW (1993) Tilapia yield improvement through maintenance of minimal oxygen concentrations in experimental grow-out ponds in Honduras. *Aquaculture* **118**, 63-71
- Velasco RR, Janagap CC, De Vera MP, Afan LB, Reyes RA, Eknath AE (1995) Genetic improvement of farmed tilapias: estimation of heritability of body and carcass traits of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquaculture 137, 280-281
- Zimmerman AM, Wheeler PA, Ristow SS, Thorgaard GH (2005) Composite interval mapping reveals three QTL associated with pyloric caeca number in rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Aquaculture 247, 85-95